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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

FELIPE OSORIO, individually on 
behalf of all individuals similarly 
situated, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

US FOODS, INC., WHICH WILL DO 
BUSINESS IN CALIFORNIA AS U.S. 
FOODSERVICE, INC., a Delaware 
corporation; and DOES 1 through 25, 
inclusive, 

Defendants. 

Case No. 2:21-CV-00179 

NOTICE OF REMOVAL BY 
DEFENDANT US FOODS, INC. 

28 U.S.C. §§ 1332, 1441, 1446 
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TO THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE CENTRAL 

DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA AND TO ALL PARTIES AND THEIR 

ATTORNEYS FOR RECORD: 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that Defendant US Foods, Inc. files this Notice of 

Removal pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(d) (the Class Action Fairness Act), and 

1446(b) to effect removal of the above-captioned action, which was commenced in 

the Superior Court of the State of California in and for the County of Los Angeles.  

The removal is proper for the reasons stated below. 

BACKGROUND 

1. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff Felipe Osorio, individually and 

purportedly on behalf of all others similarly situated, filed a Complaint in the 

Superior Court of California for the County of Los Angeles, entitled “Felipe Osorio 

v. US Foods, Inc.” Case Number 20STCV46858.  The allegations of the Complaint 

in the Action are incorporated by reference in this Notice of Removal without 

necessarily admitting any of them.   

2. The Complaint asserts causes of action on a class-wide basis for: 

(1) Failure to compensate all hours worked in violation of Industrial Welfare 

Commission Order No. 4 and California Labor Code sections 200, 226, 500, 510, 

1194, 1197, and 1198; (2)  Failure to pay minimum wages in violation of Labor 

Code sections 1182.12, 1194, 1194.2, and 1197; (3) Failure to pay overtime 

compensation in violation of California Labor Code section 1194, et seq.; 

(4) Failure to provide proper wage statements in violation of California Labor 

section 226; (5) Violation of Labor Code sections 2698, et seq. (Private Attorneys 

General Act); and (6) Violations of California Business and Professions Code 

sections 17200, et seq. 

3. Specifically, Plaintiff alleges that, beginning on or around April 21, 

2020, Defendant required Plaintiff and putative class members to wait in line for 

temperature checks at Defendant’s warehouses.  Complaint ¶ 11.  Plaintiff further 
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alleges that Defendants agreed to compensate Plaintiff and putative class members 

at the rate of one minute at their regular hourly wage for time spent waiting in line 

at temperature checks, but that these temperature checks forced them to wait up to 

five minutes due to various factors.  Id. ¶ 12.  Plaintiff also alleges that Defendant 

did not pay Plaintiff and putative class members for the time between the 

temperature checks and the start of their shifts, although Plaintiff and putative class 

members had to walk up to fifteen minutes from the temperature check station to 

their workstations before they could begin to be paid for their time.  Id. ¶ 13.  

Plaintiff alleges that as a result of this unpaid time related to required temperature 

checks, Defendant failed to pay Plaintiff and putative class members for all hours 

worked, including minimum wages, overtime wages, and double-time wages; failed 

to issue accurate wage statements; violated California’s PAGA; and violated 

California’s UCL.  Id. ¶¶ 10-19, passim.   

4. Plaintiff further contends that this unpaid time should have been 

compensated at applicable overtime rates due to the amount of time Plaintiff and 

putative class members worked during their shifts.  Id. ¶ 15.  Plaintiff alleges 

Defendant was required to pay Plaintiff and putative class members: (a) time and 

one-half their regular rate of pay for hours worked in excess of eight hours in a 

workday and/or forty hours in any workweek and for the first eight hours worked 

on the seventh day of work in any one workweek; and (b) twice their regular rate of 

pay for hours worked in excess of twelve hours in any one day or for hours worked 

in excess of eight hours on any seventh day of work in a workweek.  Id.  ¶ 50. 

5. Defendant was served with the Complaint on December 9, 2020.  The 

Summons and Complaint are attached hereto together with all other pleadings, 

process, and orders served on US Foods as Exhibits 1-8.  This Notice of Removal 

is timely under any removal time period.  28 U.S.C. § 1446(b) (filed within thirty 

days of the first receipt by Defendant of a copy of the Summons and Complaint in 

this matter); Kuxhausen v. BMW Fin. Servs. NA LLC, 707 F.3d 1136, 1139 (9th Cir. 
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2013) (thirty-day removal period not triggered by indeterminate complaint that 

“does not make clear whether the required jurisdictional elements are present”). 

CLASS ACTION FAIRNESS ACT 

6. Defendant removes this action based upon the Class Action Fairness 

Act of 2005, codified in 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d).  This Court has original jurisdiction 

of this action under § 1332(d)(2).  As set forth below, this action is removable 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1441(a) because it is a class action in which at least one 

class member is a citizen of a state different from that of any one defendant, the 

proposed class exceeds 100 members, and the amount in controversy exceeds 

$5,000,000, exclusive of interest and costs.  28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2)(A).  Further, no 

defendant identified in the Complaint is a state, officer of a state, or a governmental 

agency.  28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(5). 

DIVERSITY OF CITIZENSHIP 

7. CAFA’s diversity requirement is satisfied when at least one plaintiff is 

a citizen of a state in which none of the defendants are citizens.  28 U.S.C. §§ 

1332(d)(2), 1332(d)(5)(B), 1453(a). 

8. Plaintiff’s Citizenship.  Plaintiff alleges that he was, at all times 

relevant to this Complaint, an adult individual living and working in the State of 

California and that he was employed by Defendant in the State of California.  

Complaint ¶¶ 1, 8.  For diversity purposes, a person is a “citizen” of the state in 

which he or she is domiciled.  Kantor v. Wellesley Galleries, Ltd., 704 F.2d 1088 

(9th Cir. 1983).  A person’s domicile is the place he or she resides with the 

intention to remain or to which he or she intends to return.  Kanter v. Warner–

Lambert Co., 265 F.3d 853, 857 (9th Cir. 2001).  Residence is prima facie the 

domicile.  See Ayala v. Cox Automotive, Inc., 2016 WL 6561284, at *4 (C.D. Cal. 

2016) (allegation that Plaintiff “is, and at all times mentioned in the Complaint 

was,” a California resident “gives rise to a presumption that Plaintiff is a California  

/// 
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citizen”); State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Dyer, 19 F.3d 514, 520 (10th Cir. 

1994).  Defendant therefore alleges that Plaintiff is a citizen of California.  

9. Defendant US Foods’ Citizenship.  For diversity purposes, a 

corporation “shall be deemed a citizen of any State by which it has been 

incorporated and of the State where it has its principal place of business.”  

28 U.S.C. § 1332(c)(1).  A corporation’s principal place of business is “where a 

corporation’s officers direct, control, and coordinate the corporation’s activities.  

Hertz Corp. v. Friend, 559 U.S. 77, 92–93 (2010) (adopting “nerve center” test to 

determine corporation’s principal place of business).  The proper inquiry is to 

determine a corporation’s “center of overall direction, control and coordination.”  

Id. 

10. US Foods is now, and was at the time of the filing of the Complaint, a 

corporation incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware.  Complaint ¶ 2.  

US Foods’ principal place of business is currently, and was at the time of filing of 

the Complaint has been, Rosemont, Illinois.  US Foods’ corporate headquarters is 

located in Rosemont, Illinois.  US Foods also maintains its corporate books and 

records in Rosemont, Illinois.  US Foods’ Board meetings are held in Rosemont, 

Illinois where the corporate offices are located.  Therefore, US Foods is a citizen of 

Delaware and Illinois for the purposes of determining diversity of citizenship. 

11. Doe Defendant’s Citizenship.  The citizenship of fictitious defendants 

is disregarded for purposes of establishing removal jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1332.  See 28 U.S.C. § 1441(a); see also Bryant v. Ford Motor Co., 886 F.2d 

1526, 1528 (9th Cir. 1989), cert. denied, 493 U.S. 1076 (1990).   

12. Based on the Complaint, therefore, at least one member of the putative 

class is a citizen of a state different from that of one Defendant.  See 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1332(d)(2)(A) (requiring only “minimal diversity” under which “any member of a 

class of plaintiffs is a citizen of a State different from any defendant”)  

/// 
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PROPOSED CLASS SIZE 

13. CAFA’s requirement that proposed class members be no less than 100 

under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(5)(B) is satisfied here because the alleged putative class 

has more than 100 members.   

14. Plaintiff seeks to represent all individuals who have been, or currently 

are, employed by Defendant as non-exempt employees at any time between 

April 21, 2020 through the date that judgment is entered.  Complaint ¶¶ 20-21.  

Plaintiff alleges that “during the Class Period, hundreds of Class members have 

been employed by Defendants as non-exempt employees in the State of California.”  

Id. ¶ 22.  Defendant asserts that the putative class has more than 100 members.  The 

actual number of non-exempt individuals who are or were employed by Defendant 

within the State of California between April 21, 2020 to January 8, 2021 is at least 

1,424.  This number does not include Defendant’s non-California employees whom 

Plaintiff purportedly seeks to represent in the Complaint based on a strict reading of 

his class definition, which is not limited to California employees.  See id. ¶ 20. 

THE AMOUNT IN CONTROVERSY EXCEEDS $5 MILLION 

15. In considering the amount in controversy, what matters is the amount 

put in controversy by plaintiff’s complaint, not what amount the defendant will 

actually owe (if anything).  “[T]he amount in controversy is simply an estimate of 

the total amount in dispute, not a prospective assessment of defendant's liability.” 

Lewis v. Verizon Comm., Inc., 627 F.3d 395, 400 (9th Cir. 2010); Korn v. Polo 

Ralph Lauren, 536 F.Supp.2d 1199, 1205 (E.D. Cal. 2008) (“Where a statutory 

maximum is specified, courts may consider the maximum statutory penalty 

available in determining whether the jurisdictional amount in controversy 

requirement is met”).  Consequently, the existence of a defense that may apply to 

some or all of the claims is irrelevant.  “[A]ffirmative defenses, counterclaims, and 

potential offsets may not be invoked to demonstrate the amount-in-controversy is 

actually less than the jurisdictional minimum.”  Lara v. Trimac Transp. Servs. (W.) 
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Inc., No. CV 10-4280-GHK (JCx), 2010 WL 3119366 at *3 (C.D. Cal. Aug. 6, 

2010) (citing St. Paul Mercury Indem. Co. v. Red Cab Co., 303 U.S. 283, 292, 

(1938) (“[T]he fact that it appears from the face of the complaint that the defendant 

has a valid defense, if asserted, to all or a portion of the claim . . . will not justify 

remand.”)).  If the rule were otherwise, then a court would need to decide the merits 

before deciding the jurisdictional issue, which is plainly untenable.  Lara, 2010 WL 

3119366 at *3, quoting Larsen v. Hofman, 444 F. Supp. 245 (D.D.C. 1977) 

(“Jurisdictional determinations would otherwise have to await the outcome of trial 

on the merits in which counterclaims, set-offs, etc. may or may not be raised and, 

even if raised, may ultimately be demonstrated to be invalid”). 

16. The alleged amount in controversy in this proposed class action 

exceeds, in the aggregate, $5,000,000, exclusive of interest and costs.  Defendant 

denies Plaintiff’s claims in their entirety and asserts that Plaintiff’s claims are not 

amenable to class treatment, but provides the following analysis of potential 

damages (without admitting liability) based on the allegations in Plaintiff’s 

Complaint in order to demonstrate that Plaintiff’s Complaint puts a sufficient 

amount “in controversy” to warrant removal under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d).   

17. Plaintiff seeks to recover, among many things, unpaid wages, 

liquidated damages, penalties under the Labor Code, restitution, nominal damages, 

and attorneys’ fees, costs, and interest based on the allegations that Defendant 

violated various wage-and-hour laws.   

18. Plaintiff’s Complaint is silent as to the total amount of damages 

claimed.  When the amount in controversy is not readily apparent from a complaint, 

“the court may consider facts in the removal petition” to determine the potential 

damages at issue.  Kroske v. US Bank Corp., 432 F.3d 976, 980 (9th Cir. 2005) 

(quoting Singer v. State Farm Mut. Ins. Co., 116 F.3d 373, 377 (9th Cir. 1997)).  A 

defendant must provide “a plausible allegation that the amount in controversy 

exceeds the jurisdictional threshold.”  Dart Cherokee Basin Operating Co. v. 
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Owens, 574 U.S. 81, 89 (2014); see also Ibarra v. Manheim Invs., Inc., 775 F.3d 

1193, 1197-98 (9th Cir. 2015) (“[A] defendant can establish the amount in 

controversy by an unchallenged, plausible assertion of the amount in controversy in 

its notice of removal.”).  The defendant’s amount in controversy allegation should 

be accepted when not contested by the plaintiff or questioned by the court.  Dart, 

574 U.S. at 87.  Thus, Defendant is only required to establish that it is plausible that 

the amount in controversy exceeds $5,000,000.   

19. Statutory penalties may be considered by the Court when determining 

the amount in controversy.  See Chabner v. United of Omaha Life Ins. Co., 225 

F.3d 1042, 1046 n.3 (9th Cir. 2000);  Korn v. Polo Ralph Lauren, 536 F.Supp.2d 

1199, 1205 (E.D. Cal. 2008) (“Where a statutory maximum is specified, courts may 

consider the maximum statutory penalty available in determining whether the 

jurisdictional amount in controversy requirement is met”).  The Court should also 

include requests for attorneys’ fees in determining the amount in controversy.  See 

Galt G/S v. JSS Scandinavia, 142 F.3d 1150, 1155-56 (9th Cir. 1998).   

20. An initial review of Defendant’s records shows that during the 

proposed class period from April 21, 2020 to January 8, 2021, Defendant employed 

at least 1,424 non-exempt employees in California who would qualify as part of the 

putative class members based on Plaintiff’s allegations.  The approximate average 

hourly rate of pay for these non-exempt putative class members is more than $26.41 

per hour.  During that same period, these non-exempt putative class members 

worked at least 50,047 workweeks. 

21. Alleged Failure to Pay Overtime Wages:  Plaintiff brings his first, 

second, and third causes of action on the same theory that Plaintiff and putative 

class members were not compensated for all hours worked in connection with the 

allegedly unpaid temperature checks.  Id. ¶¶ 30-56.  Plaintiff further contends that 

this unpaid time should have been compensated at applicable overtime rates due to 

the amount of time Plaintiff and putative class members worked during their shifts.  
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Id. ¶ 15.  Thus, instead of calculating the alleged amount in controversy using each 

of these three causes of action (e.g., 19 minutes of unpaid time at employees’ 

hourly rates of pay, 19 minutes of unpaid time at the California minimum wage, 

and 19 minutes of unpaid time at the overtime rates of pay), Defendant 

conservatively calculates these alleged damages as solely overtime wages under 

Plaintiff’s third cause of action.  Id. ¶¶ 49-56.  Plaintiff alleges Defendant was 

required to pay Plaintiff and putative class members: (a) time and one-half their 

regular rate of pay for hours worked in excess of eight hours in a workday and/or 

forty hours in any workweek and for the first eight hours worked on the seventh 

day of work in any one workweek; and (b) twice their regular rate of pay for hours 

worked in excess of twelve hours in any one day or for hours worked in excess of 

eight hours on any seventh day of work in a workweek.  Id.  ¶ 50.  The average 

hourly rate of pay for the putative class members is more than $26.41 per hour.  

Assuming that Defendant failed to pay Plaintiff and the putative class members for 

19 minutes in connection with the temperature checks, Plaintiff alleges at least 

$2,812,665 for this claim.  (19 minutes of overtime ÷ 60 minutes per hour x 4.48 

shifts per workweek x 50,047 workweeks x 1.5 x the average hourly rate of pay of 

$26.41 = $2,812,665).   

22. Alleged Penalties Under Labor Code Section 226:  Plaintiff’s fourth 

cause of action is for failure to provide accurate itemized wage statements.  

Complaint ¶¶ 57-61.  Plaintiff alleges that Defendant failed to provide Plaintiff and 

the putative class members with accurate itemized wage statements that correctly 

reflected all hours worked as required by Labor Code section 226 and that 

Defendant is liable for damages and statutory penalties.  Id.; see also Lab. Code 

§ 226(e) (penalty of $50 for the initial pay period in which a violation occurs, $100 

for subsequent violations, with a maximum penalty of $4,000 per employee).  For 

the period of April 21, 2020 through January 8, 2021, there were at least 1,424 

putative class members employed who received at least one wage statement during 
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the proposed class period.  Assuming these putative class members each 

experienced wage statement violations as a result of the allegedly unpaid 

temperature checks, Plaintiff alleges at least $3,758,900 in penalties for this claim.  

(682 union employees x $50 + $100 x 23,819 subsequent weekly pay periods = 

$2,416,000 plus 742 nonunion employees x $50 + $100 x 13,058 subsequent 

biweekly pay periods = $1,342,900).   

23. Alleged Waiting Time Penalties: Plaintiff’s first and third causes of 

action include allegations seeking recovery of waiting time penalties under Labor 

Code section 203.  Complaint ¶¶ 33, 37, and 55.  Section 203 provides for up to 30 

days’ wages as a “waiting time” penalty for employers who willfully fail to pay 

wages owed upon termination.  Lab. Code § 203.  At least 129 putative class 

members ended their employment with Defendant from April 21, 2020 to 

January 8, 2021.  Given Plaintiff’s allegations about the allegedly unpaid 

temperature checks, it is reasonable to assume for purposes of the amount in 

controversy that each employee leaving employment would have experienced at 

least one incident resulting in underpayment during their employment.  Complaint 

¶¶ 11-13.  Conservatively estimating that each of those putative class members 

worked an average of only eight hours per day at the approximate average final 

hourly rate of pay of at least $25.68, and assuming 30 days of penalties for each 

terminated employee, Plaintiff’s allegations would result in Section 203 penalties of 

at least $795,053.  (129 former employees x [8 hours x $25.68 final hourly rate of 

pay] x 30 days = $795,053). 

24. As the calculations above demonstrate, there is well over $5 million in 

controversy in this action:  $2,812,665 (overtime) + $3,758,900 (penalties for 

inaccurate wage statements) + $795,053 (waiting time penalties) = $7,366,618.  

Further, to the extent Plaintiff is seeking to represent non-California employees 

included in his overly broad class definition, the amount in controversy does not 

address the claims of any non-California putative class members.  Id. ¶ 20. 
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25. The amount in controversy is also satisfied without addressing 

potential attorneys’ fees, which are provided by statute and in the Ninth Circuit 

typically are 25% of any judgment in favor of the plaintiff.  See Altamirano v. Shaw 

Industries, Inc., 2013 WL 2950600, at *13 (N.D. Cal., June 14, 2013) (for CAFA 

amount in controversy, adding 25% of the amount in controversy on the claims for 

relief to account for attorneys’ fees).  Including potential attorneys’ fees would 

increase the amount in controversy by an additional $1,841,655, totaling 

$9,208,273.  ($7,366,618 amount in controversy x 0.25 = $1,841,655).  CAFA’s 

amount-in-controversy requirement is satisfied.1    

VENUE 

26. Venue lies in the Central District of California pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§§ 1441(a), 1446(a), and 84(c)(2).  This action was originally brought in the 

Superior Court of the State of California, County of Los Angeles, which is 

embraced by the Central District of California. 

NOTICE OF REMOVAL 

27. This Notice of Removal shall be served promptly on Plaintiff’s 

Counsel of Record and filed with the Clerk of the Superior Court of the State of 

California in and for the County of Los Angeles.   

 
1 Although current Ninth Circuit law does not permit the CAFA amount in controversy to include 
amounts at issue on a PAGA claim, Yocupicio v. PAE Group, LLC, 795 F.3d. 1057 (9th Cir. 
2015), relying on Baumann v. Chase Inv. Servs. Corp., 747 F.3d 1117 (9th Cir. 2014), US Foods 
respectfully believes these authorities are incorrect.  Baumann’s holding that PAGA is not a 
“class action” for CAFA purposes (CAFA defines a “class action” as “a similar State statute or 
rule of judicial procedure authorizing an action to be brought by 1 or more representative 
persons as a class action”, 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(1)(B)) is incorrect because it is based on a 
selective reading of Arias v. Superior Court, 46 Cal. 4th 969 (2009).  Baumann entirely ignores 
footnote 5 of Arias, in which the California Supreme Court stated that a PAGA action “may” be 
brought as a class action.  If a PAGA action “may” be brought as a class action, then PAGA is a 
“State statute ... authorizing an action to be brought by 1 or more representative persons as a 
class action.”  While Arias does not mandate that a PAGA action be brought as a class action, it 
surely “authorizes” a PAGA action to be brought as a class action.  And that is all that is 
required under CAFA.  In any event, because the amount in controversy is satisfied without 
reference to Plaintiff’s claim for relief for PAGA penalties, US Foods raises this point only to 
preserve the issue that the PAGA claim increases the amount in controversy. 
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In compliance with 28 U.S.C. § 1446(a), attached hereto as Exhibits 1-8 are 

copies of Plaintiff’s state-court papers served herein, including the summons and 

Complaint. 
 
Dated:  January 8, 2021. 
 

JOSEPH C. LIBURT 
KATIE E. BRISCOE 
ALEXANDRA GUERRA 
Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP 

By:              /s/ Joseph C. Liburt 
JOSEPH C. LIBURT 

Attorneys for Defendant 
US FOODS, INC. 
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ClassAction.org
This complaint is part of ClassAction.org's searchable class action lawsuit database and can be found in this 
post: US Foods Warehouse Workers Lost Wages on Time Spent on Temperature Checks, Class Action Says

https://www.classaction.org/news/us-foods-warehouse-workers-lost-wages-on-time-spent-on-temperature-checks-class-action-says

